9-8

FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 17 1995

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. FSC No. 86,098
FLA. 2d DCA 94-01131

JESSE M. MONTAGUE,

Respondent.

CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
IN AND FOR THE SECOND DISTRICT
LAKELAND, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa
Florida Bar No. 238538

RON NAPOLITANO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 130175
Westwood Center
2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

[References to trial testimony, which consists of volumes II and III and was numerated separately from the remainder of the record on appeal are cited as "T__". The remainder of the record on appeal, which consists of volume I is cited as "R__".]

Respondent was charged by an amended criminal affidavit with 3 counts of sexual activity with a child 12 years of age or older but less than 18 years of age while in a position of familial or custodial authority (R36-37). The offenses, which consisted of actual sexual intercourse occurred between June 1, 1991 and August 31, 1991 (Count 1), between September 1, 1991 and December 19, 1991 (Count 2), and on December 20, 1991 (Count 3) (R36-37).

There was testimony during the trial by the victim that Mr. Montague, her father, had been having sexual intercourse with her since she was in the seventh grade (T 56-59). During the summer of 1991 while she was 14 years old and after she turned 15 years old on August 26, Mr. Montague continued to have sexual relations with her (T59-60). From September and into December of 1991, when she was in the tenth grade he would continue to have sex with her about once or twice a week sometimes more often (T61-62). She specifically remembered having sexual intercourse with her father on November 1, 1991 (T62-63). She stated that the last time she had sexual intercourse with her father was on December 20, 1991 (T64-66). She was not feeling well that day

and was having stomach cramps (T65). While he was having sexual intercourse with her she kept saying that it hurt because her stomach was hurting (T65).

The victim testified that she went to the hospital in January of 1992 because she had been bleeding alot from her vagina and did not know what was wrong (T63-64). The respondent testified that the victim had been bleeding for over a week before she was taken to the hospital (T247). On January 3, 1992, Dr. Lerner testified that the victim was about six weeks pregnant when he examined her at the hospital, determined that she was having a miscarriage and performed a D&C (Dilation and Curettage) to remove the remaining tissue from the uterus; the tissue was chronic villas meaning that it was the product of conception, part of a pregnancy and not just the tissue of the uterus (T30-33).

Mr. Montague was found guilty of all three counts by a jury (R67-69, T278-279). The guidelines scoresheet reflected 120 points for victim injury checked as "moderate or penetration" with the word "penetration" circled and the notation "x3" next to it in the preceeding line of "slight or contact but no penetration". (R79). Mr. Montague was sentenced to 25 years imprisonment concurrent on all three counts (R 70-79, T285-286). The scoring of victim injury was not objected to by the defense at the trial level.

The only issue raised on direct appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal was a challenge to the sentence imposed

on the ground that the trial court erred in assessing victim injury points relying upon Karchesky v. State, 591 So.2d 930 (Fla. 1992). Montague v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1158 (Fla. 2d DCA May 12, 1995). The District Court ruled that the failure of the defendant to raise a contemporaneous objection does not preclude independent review by the appellate court of this issue. Id. at D1159. The District Court found that the record on appeal was barren as to the trial court's basis for concluding that the victim suffered physical injury or trauma as a result of the defendant's acts. Id. The court remanded the case for a De Novo sentencing hearing for the state to put on evidence regarding the extent of victim injury which may have been other inadmissible in the defendant's trial because victim injury is not an element of the crime. Id.

On motion for rehearing, the District Court denied the respondent's argument that the decision of the Florida Supreme Court in Pinacle v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S196 (Fla. Apr. 27, 1995) implicitly affirmed Perryman v. State, 608 So.2d 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) Review Denied, 621 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1993), which held that in the absence of an appropriate objection, a Karchesky issue is not preserved for appeal contrary to the opinion of the Second District in Singleton v. State, 620 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). The District Court noted that in Linkous v. State, 618 So.2d 294 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), Review Denied, 626 So.2d 208 (Fla. 1993), it certified conflict with Perryman on this exact same issue. Montague v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1483 (Fla. 2d

DCA June 23, 1995). The District Court certified the following question as one of great public importance:

HAS PINACLE V. STATE, 20 FLA. L. WEEKLY S126 (FLA. APR. 27, 1995), OVERRULED LINKOUS V. STATE, 618 So.2d 294 (FLA. 2D DCA), REVIEW DENIED, 626 So.2d 208 (FLA. 1993), AND ADOPTED THE HOLDING OF PERRYMAN V. STATE, 608 So.2d 528 (FLA. 1ST DCA 1992), REVIEW DENIED, 621 So.2d 432 (FLA. 1993), SO THAT IN ORDER TO PRESERVE A KARCHESKY SENTENCING ISSUE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW A CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION MUST BE MADE AT THE TIME OF SENTENCING TO THE ADDITION OF VICTIM INJURY POINTS?

Petitioner timely filed its notice invoking the discretionary jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court to review the decision of the second district court which certified a question to be of great public importance.

Pursuant to the order of this Court rendered July 21, 1995, postponing its decision on jurisdiction and setting a briefing schedule, petitioner files this initial brief on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The answer to the certified question is a qualified yes. A contemporaneous objection is necessary to preserve a Karchesky issue if that error is not apparent or determinable from the face of the record on appeal.

In the instant case, the record on appeal establishes a factual basis for scoring victim injury points as to Counts 2 and 3. As to Count 1 any error in scoring victim injury points involves factual matters not apparent or determinable from the record on appeal; therefore, any error as to the scoring of such points as to Count 1 is not properly preserved for appeal because there was no contemporaneous objection. However, respondent would be entitled to raise such an issue by motion for post-conviction relief if the error is not harmless.

Regarding the points scored for Counts 2 and 3, the record reflects that if properly scored on these two counts alone, appellant would fall into the same sentencing range and therefore any error as to the scoring of victim injury as to Count 1 was harmless.

ARGUMENT

CERTIFIED QUESTION

HAS PINACLE V. STATE, 20 FLA. L. WEEKLY S126 (FLA. APR. 27, 1995), OVERRULED LINKOUS V. STATE, 618 So.2d 294 (FLA. 2D DCA), REVIEW DENIED, 626 So.2d 208 (FLA. 1993), AND ADOPTED THE HOLDING OF PERRYMAN V. STATE, 608 So.2d 528 (FLA. 1ST DCA 1992), REVIEW DENIED, 621 So.2d 432 (FLA. 1993), SO THAT IN ORDER TO PRESERVE A KARCHESKY SENTENCING ISSUE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW A CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION MUST BE MADE AT THE TIME OF SENTENCING TO THE ADDITION OF VICTIM INJURY POINTS?

The answer to the certified question as phrased by the Second District Court of Appeal must be a "qualified" yes. Petitioner must acknowledge that this Court has stated in no uncertain terms that the contemporaneous objection rule applies to preclude appellate review of an alleged sentencing error under the guidelines where the error claimed involves factual matters that are not apparent or determinable from the record. Dailey v. State, 488 So.2d 532 (Fla. 1986); State v. Whitfield, 487 So.2d 1045 (Fla. 1986); Merchant v. State, 509 So.2d 1101 (Fla. 1987).

Petitioner submits, therefore, that a contemporaneous objection is necessary to preserve a Karchesky error where that error is not apparent from the face of the record. Petitioner submits that absent such an objection, respondent's remedy is not a direct appeal to the district court, but rather to seek post-conviction relief and to appeal any denial of such relief.

The decision in Perryman, supra., was based upon this court's ruling in Dailey, supra. There is no indication from the opinion in Perryman as to whether any Karchesky error, which was

not objected to at the trial level, was apparent from the face of the record. In Linkous, the defendant was appealing the denial of a motion to correct an illegal sentence. The trial court was given the opportunity to hear the appellant's argument that the victim injury points were improperly scored on the ground that there was no actual physical trauma suffered by the victim. The trial court was in error for summarily denying the motion.

In the instant case, respondent sought a direct appeal on the ground that the trial court erred in scoring victim injury points. Yet not only did the respondent fail to object to this alleged scoresheet error at the time of sentencing; he never raised this alleged scoresheet error in any post-conviction action.

Contrary to the opinion of Second District Court of Appeal, the record on appeal does not indicate that there was any harmful error in the scoring of victim injury points. The issue is not whether the record is barren as to any basis for the trial court to determine that the victim suffered physical injury or trauma as a result of the respondent's acts; the issue is whether it is apparent from the face of the record that there was no such injury. See Dailey, supra, Whitfield, supra., and Merchant, supra.

In the instant case, the record clearly establishes that there was a basis for scoring victim injury points. As the court stated in Karchesky, 591 So.2d at 933, "Of course, any specifically identified physical injury of trauma that occurs as a result of the episode may be scored as victim injury."

The record reflects that at the time of the third charged incident of sexual intercourse, which took place on December 20, 1991, she felt sick with stomach cramps and while they had intercourse she kept telling her father that it hurt because her stomach was hurting (T64-66). The record further reflects that as a result of her becoming pregnant from her father, she suffered a miscarriage and had been bleeding for over a week prior to the doctor performing a D & C procedure at the hospital on the evening of January 3-4, 1992 (T30-33, 63-64, 247). Petitioner submits that respondent's causing the victim physical pain during the sexual intercourse on December 20, 1991, and the miscarriage she suffered in January or 1992, constitutes physical injury or trauma that occurred as a result of Appellant's criminal offenses.

Petitioner submits that physical injury includes the infliction of physical pain. Such pain is not "psychic injury" which the court held to be unscorable in Karchesky, 591 So.2d at 932. Section 794.011(g), Fla. Stat. (1991) defines "serious personal injury as "great bodily harm or pain, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement." Clearly the legislature has implicitly recognized from such a definition that injury includes pain. In the instant case, therefore, we have not only physical contact and penetration but physical pain. Webster's Third New International Dictionary (1986) defines injury as, "an act that damages, harms or hurts; an unjust or underserved infliction of suffering or harm."

Additionally, it was held in Fenelon v. State, 629 So.2d 955 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), that pregnancy and childbirth equate with physical injury. The fact that victim injury is not an element of the crime for which the defendant is convicted no longer prevents the scoring of victim injury points. As the court in Fenelon, 629 So.2d at 956 noted:

As the court pointed out in Karchesky, 591 So.2d at 932, the guidelines were changed in July 1987 to authorize points for physical trauma, even where the injury is not an element of the crime.

Indeed, the rule of criminal procedure applicable at the time of respondent's offenses which were committed in 1991 (R36-37), Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.701(d)7, committee note (1991) states:

This provision implements the intention of the commission that points for victim injury be added for each victim injured during a criminal transaction or episode. THE INJURY NEED NOT BE AN ELEMENT OF THE CRIME FOR WHICH THE DEFENDANT WAS CONVICTED, BUT IS LIMITED TO PHYSICAL TRAUMA. (emphasis added)

The Second District adopted the reasoning on Fenelon in its Montague opinion. Montague v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at D 1159.

If there is any error in the scoring of victim injury points in the instant case it is not whether or not victim injury should or should not be scored but rather what the total amount of victim injury points should be. Respondent submits that pursuant to the above argument it was proper to assess victim injury

points for the pain suffered by the victim during the Appellant's intercourse with her on December 20, 1991 (Count 3) and for her pregnancy and miscarriage.

There may have been error in scoring victim injury points for the sexual intercourse which took place during the months of June through August of 1991 (Count 1), since there was no evidence adduced at trial that the victim suffered any pain during this sexual union nor can it be deduced that she became pregnant as a result of this particular sexual union. However, as the Second District properly noted in its opinion, victim injury is not an element of the offenses. Montague v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly at D1159 n. 3. Since it was not an element of the offenses, the state was not required to prove such an injury during the trial in chief. An evidentiary hearing is necessary to establish whether, in fact, the victim suffered physical injury or trauma as to Count 1. This error requires a contemporaneous objection because the error claimed involves factual matters not apparent or determinable from the record on appeal. See Dailey, supra, Whitfield, supra, and Merchant, supra. We do not know whether the victim suffered any physical injury or trauma from the sexual activity alleged in Count 1 because she was never questioned at trial regarding any such injury.

The record reflects that she was approximately six weeks pregnant when she suffered her miscarriage on the evening of January 3-4, 1992 (T32). This would correspond to the victim's

testimony of her having intercourse with he father during the fall of 1991 (Count 2 - between September 1 and December 19, 1991) [T 61-63]. She suffered pain during the sexual union which occurred on December 20, 1991 (Count 3) [T64-66]. Appellee submits that it was proper to score victim injury for Counts 2 and 3 based upon the legal analysis and the facts as set forth above.

Petitioner submits that the that the proper scoring of victim injury, under this analysis, in the instant case would be to score 85 points for serious injury as a result of her pregnancy and miscarriage suffered as a result of the intercourse which took place during September to December 1991 (Count 2) and at least 40 points for slight injury for the pain she suffered as a result of the sexual union which took place on December 20, 1991 (Count 3). The correct total of victim injury points under this analysis would be 125. The total points would then be 447 points instead of 442 points as reflected on the scoresheet (R79). Appellant would still fall with the same sentencing range and the sentences imposed would still be legal as within the permitted range. Therefore, in addition to the fact that any error in scoring victim injury as to Count 1 is not properly preserved because there was no contemporaneous objection and the error is not apparent from the face of the record, there remained a factual basis on the record for scoring victim injury points as to Counts 2 and 3, and if those injury points were properly calculated as set forth above, the error as to the scoring of victim injury points as to Count 1 amounted to harmless error.

Even if this court should determine that the decision of the second district is proper, upon remand the trial court would have the right to consider the imposition of a departure sentence if after reconsidering the appropriate amount of victim injury points the point total results in a lower sentencing cell, since it is clear that at the initial sentencing, it was not the court's intent to impose a departure sentence. State v. Betancourt, 552 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 1989); Hood v. State, 603 So.2d 643 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts, arguments and authorities, the certified question should be answered with a qualified yes for the reasons set forth above. The judgment and sentence should be affirmed.