FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE

SEP 7 1995

STATE OF FLORIDA,

:

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

vs.

: Ca

Case No. 86,098

JESSE M. MONTAGUE,

Respondent.

Petitioner,

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, Jesse M. Montague, accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts with the following exceptions and additions:

Petitioner states in his Facts that the victim was hurt during the last time she had sexual intercourse with Mr. Montague. Although the Petitioner acknowledges that the victim was not feeling well and was having stomach cramps, Petitioner goes on to state: "While he was having sexual intercourse with her she kept saying that it hurt because her stomach was hurting." Petitioner's brief, p.2. Petitioner then argues in the issue that the act of intercourse is what hurt the victim. Petitioner's brief, pp. 8, 10, 11. What the victim actually said was:

I remember feeling really sick. My stomach was cramping up, and I didn't feel well at all.

And he came out there, and I said that my stomach was hurting and everything, and he said that he was going to rub it and make it feel better.

And then he told me to lay down on the bed. I guess I was in the bedroom of the motor home. And he told me to lay down on the bed, and he started rubbing my stomach, and his hands went everywhere else. And he had sex with me.

And I kept saying it hurt, because my stomach was hurting. (T65)

The victim in this case never specifically stated that while having sex it hurt. The victim kept saying it hurt, but the record does not reflect that it was the sexual activity which was causing the pain. However, there is more than ample evidence to support the

victim was in pain because of her stomach and not as a result of the sexual activity.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A <u>Karchesky</u> issue does not require a contemporaneous objection, because it is the trial court's responsibility to make a finding of specifically identified physical injury that occurred apart from penetration. The trial court's failure to make such a factual finding--readily ascertainable from the face of the sentencing hearing--constitutes fundamental error.

In regard to the merits of the <u>Karchesky</u> issue, 80 points for victim injury need to be stricken from Counts I and III inasmuch as there was no evidence presented at trial of victim injury apart from penetration. As to Count II, the fact that the victim became pregnant as a result of the incident does not mean victim injury has occurred. This Court has approved a district court decision in which the resulting pregnancy was not found to be an injury, and the points for victim injury were struck. If this Court should find that pregnancy resulting from sexual battery constitutes an injury separate and apart from penetration, then the 40 points initially assessed by the trial court for slight injury must stand. This Court cannot increase the trial court's assessment of injury.

ARGUMENT

HAS PINACLE V. STATE, 20 FLA. L. WEEKLY S126 (FLA. APR. 27, 1995), OVERRULED LINKOUS V. STATE, 618 So. 2d 294 (FLA. 2d DCA), REVIEW DENIED, 626 So. 2d 208 (FLA. 1993), AND ADOPTED THE HOLDING OF PERRYMAN V. STATE, 608 So. 2d 528 (FLA. 1st DCA 1992), REVIEW DENIED, 621 So. 2d 432 (FLA. 1993), SO THAT IN ORDER TO PRESERVE KARCHESKY Α SENTENCING ISSUE FOR APPELLATE REVIEW A CONTEM-PORANEOUS OBJECTION MUST BE MADE AT THE TIME OF SENTENCING TO THE ADDI-TION OF VICTIM INJURY POINTS?

In reality, the Petitioner is arguing two issues in this case--whether the <u>Karchesky</u>¹ issue requires a contemporaneous objection and whether pregnancy constitutes injury under <u>Karchesky</u>. Respondent will address both of these issues and show that the answer is "no" to both of these issues in this case.

Petitioner claims the answer to the first question—whether a contemporaneous objection is required in a <u>Karchesky</u> issue—is a qualified "yes" depending on the face of the record. Mr. Montague disagrees with this qualification. Adding points for victim injury in a case involving sexual activity occurring prior to the effective date of \$921.001(8), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992), which abrogated the holding of <u>Karchesky</u>, required an actual finding of specifically identified physical injury or trauma that occurred as a result of the episode over and above penetration. See <u>Karchesky</u>, 591 So. 2d at 932, 933. The failure to make such

¹Karchesky v. State, 591 So. 2d 930 (Fla. 1992).

specific findings is readily ascertainable from the face of any record merely by examining the sentencing transcript. In the situation of habitual offender imposition during the time when the trial court was specifically required to make findings upon which it based its decision to extend a defendant's sentence, the failure to make such findings was fundamental error. Walker v. State, 462 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1985). Karchesky has placed the same factualfinding requirement on the trial court for adding victim injury points. Unlike the situation in a habitual offender sentence where the State puts on evidence of priors and it is up to the defendant to rebut that evidence less a harmless error analysis be applied to the failure to make such ministerial findings, State v. Rucker, 613 So. 2d 460 (Fla. 1993), the State cannot get victim injury points Yet, that is exactly what has without supporting evidence. happened at Mr. Montague's sentencing hearing--points were assessed for victim injury without any discussion as to any specifically identified physical injury other than penetration (T280-286). These factual findings -- not merely ministerial findings -- were the burden of the State and the trial court, not Mr. Montague.

In <u>State v. Rhoden</u>, 448 So. 2d 1013 (Fla. 1984), this Court pointed out that the contemporaneous objection rule was fashioned primarily for trial proceedings so that the trial court can address and correct errors during trial. The contemporaneous objection rule also prohibits trial counsel from deliberately allowing known errors to go uncorrected as a defense tactic and as a hedge to provide a defendant with a second trial in case the

first trial goes adversely to the defendant. See also Simpson v. State, 418 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1982), cert.denied, 459 U.S. 1156, 103 S. Ct. 801, 74 L. Ed. 2d 1004 (1983); State v. Cumbie, 380 So. 2d 1031 (Fla. 1980); Clark v. State, 363 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1978). In cases of sentencing errors, there can be no claims of defense trial tactics or ambushing in the hopes of getting the defendant a better result with a second chance. There can be no reason for a defense counsel to allow his client to be sentenced to a harsher sentence than is appropriate; and if a defense attorney has allowed such an action to occur, then the appellate courts can also find that trial counsel was ineffective on the face of the record in a direct appeal. See Loren v. State, 601 So. 2d 271 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

Of course, one might ask how could such a sentencing error go unnoticed by defense counsel, the prosecutor, and the That answer is also apparent from the face of the trial court. Scoring victim injury underwent several drastic changes record. over a short period of time. People in the criminal legal profession needed a scorecard to keep track of when victim injury could or could not be scored. Karchesky was decided on January 16, 1992, and was promptly superseded by the legislature on April 8, 1992, by §921.001, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992). The charges in this case occurred in 1991, but the trial did not take place until March 1994. After having lived with the legislative change for the last two years, it is easy to see how Karchesky could have been overlooked. If you combine the above-noted changes to the rule and time periods with the fact that sentencing occurred immediately after the jury came back with a verdict, 2 it would have been more unusual if anyone at sentencing would have realized the application of <u>Karchesky</u>. The obscure nature of this issue, however, does not change the fundamental error nature of this sentencing issue.

It is to be noted that this Court's opinion in Pinacle v. State, 654 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1995), did not have to reach this issue of whether a Karchesky issue is fundamental error because it found the issue preserved. Also, the Second District, in the motion for rehearing in the case <u>sub judice</u>, noted that even though <u>Pinacle</u> was reviewed based on direct conflict with Linkous v. State, 618 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 2d DCA), review denied, 626 So. 2d 208 (Fla. 1993), there is nothing in this Court's Pinagle decision that decided the conflict between the Third District (it is not fundamental error) and the Second and Fifth Districts (it is fundamental error) by specifically overruling any of the cases. Although this Court has had other opportunities to address this issue--Perryman v. State, 608 So. 2d 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), review denied, 621 So. 2d 432 (Fla. 1993) (Karchesky issue is not fundamental error), and Linkous -- it has yet to address this issue. Although the issue is not an easy one, the fact that Karchesky clearly placed the burden of establishing physical injury on the fact-finder places this error into the fundamental error category.

The Petitioner in this case does not go so far as to suggest that the record is totally void in this issue. Because

²Mr. Montague's attorney didn't have an opportunity to see the scoresheet until the prosecutor let defense see the State's copy in the middle of sentencing (T281, 282).

there was some evidence of what might be considered physical injury separate from penetration, Petitioner appears to be admitting that a contemporaneous objection was not needed in this case and argues the merits of the <u>Karchesky</u> issue. Mr. Montague, however, disagrees with Petitioner's conclusion that evidence of physical injury does exist in this case.

In regards to Count I, Petitioner does not claim the existence of specifically identified physical injury. Indeed, the victim in this case could not recall specific instances in regard to this count, but could only recall having sex during the summer in various locations (T58-60). The 40 points assessed here for victim injury was a <u>Karchesky</u> violation.

In regards to Count III, the victim recalled the date of the incident because she was experiencing bad cramps and it was the last time she had sex with her father (T64-66). Contrary to Petitioner's argument that the victim suffered specifically identified physical injury as a result of the episode over and above the penetration, there is no evidence of such an injury in the record. The victim did not suffer a separate injury due to the

The Second District seemed concerned that injury may have been caused but not admissible at trial, hence leaving the reviewing Court with an incomplete record. Inasmuch as the victim had no specific recollections of individual incidents as to Count I, the possible existence of "other" evidence as to injury seems doubtful. Since the trial court allowed in all of the other references (being in pain at the time of Count III, getting pregnant, having a miscarriage), it is doubtful anything was not mentioned due to an admissibility problem. Any injury other than mere penetration would have been relevant as to identifying a specific incident. In addition, there is nothing in the record which refers to such a problem.

sexual act, but clearly stated she was in pain at the time of the act due to bad stomach cramps. She "kept saying it hurt, because...[her] stomach was hurting" (T65). The victim never claimed that the sexual activity hurt or caused her pain. Each reference to pain was clearly a reference to her already being in pain due to the cramps. Thus, the 40 points assessed here was also a violation of <u>Karchesky</u>.

It is Count II with the resulting pregnancy and miscarriage that presents the biggest problem. The problem is twofold in
that there is first the issue of whether pregnancy constitutes an
injury separate and apart from penetration pursuant to <u>Karchesky</u>;
and if it is a scoreable injury, what the points should be.

The first hurdle of whether or not pregnancy constitutes a scoreable injury was indirectly addressed by the Second District in Thompson v. State, 483 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). In Thompson, Mr. Thompson was accused by his step-daughter of fondling and having sexual intercourse when his step-daughter was eleven years old. As a result of these relations, his step-daughter became pregnant and eventually gave birth to a son. The defendant was convicted of having sexual relations with his step-daughter and assessed points for victim injury based on the penetration. The Second District found the assessment of victim injury points by the trial court to be incorrect. The Second District reasoned that victim injury points were improperly assessed because victim injury was not an element of the offense of carnal intercourse in section 794.05 of the Florida Statutes. The Court found this error to be

harmful since the points placed Mr. Thompson in a higher category. The Court further stated, "While points for victim injury may not be included on the scoresheet, physical or mental trauma of the victim may be cited as a reason for departure from the guidelines."

Id. at 2. Since the Court ruled the victim injury points were improperly assessed, this implicitly implied that the penetration and the pregnancy did not amount to physical injury for which victim injury points could be assessed. When this Court issued its opinion in Karchesky, it decided the conflict issue between the Fifth District and the Second District by approving Thompson.

Karchesky, 591 So. 2d at 931, 932, 933.

When Fenelon v. State, 629 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), issued its opinion finding that pregnancy did constitute a separate physical injury, it noted in footnote 3 that Thompson did not discuss pregnancy as an injury. Thus, the Fenelon court did "not read Thompson as expressing any decision on the precise issue" of pregnancy as an injury. Fenelon, 629 So. 2d at 956. In its May 12, 1995, Montaque decision, the Second District three-panel court adopted that footnote in Fenelon in order to avoid intradistrict conflict with its Thompson decision. That attempt to "fix" the Thompson decision, however, is unsatisfactory. If a court is examining victim injury points in a sexual battery case for injury apart from mere penetration and it knows that the victim got pregnant as a result of the sexual battery, how can it claim not to be addressing the issue of pregnancy as an injury? The court in Thompson threw out those 40 victim injury points even though the

victim got pregnant, and this Court approved the <u>Thompson</u> decision. Clearly neither the <u>Thompson</u> court nor this Court thought enough of the pregnancy to address it and to declare it an injury separate and apart from the penetration in order to assess victim injury points. Based on <u>Thompson</u> and this Court's approval of <u>Thompson</u> in <u>Karchesky</u>, the 40 points assessed for victim injury in Count II should also be stricken.

If this Court, however, believes it never really addressed the issue of pregnancy as injury or wishes to reconsider that issue, then there is the additional problem of how many points The Petitioner has asked this Court to re-evaluate the points the trial court assessed by increasing the victim injury on Count II from 40 points to 85 points (slight injury to serious injury). Inasmuch as the trial court, as fact-finder, has already assessed the points for victim injury and only awarded 40 points, this Court cannot alter that assessment upwards to Mr. Montague's detriment. The amount of points assessed is for the trial court as the fact-finder and cannot be altered in the absence of a clear See Morris v. State, 605 So. 2d 511 abuse of that discretion. (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (determining extent of victim injury and appropriate points to be assessed up to trial court). Petitioner does not claim such an abuse of discretion, and the record clearly supports the trial court's decision of finding only "slight" injury -- a miscarriage occurring during the sixth week of pregnancy (T31, 32).

In addition, the trial court could have assessed the additional/harsher points for this injury, but failed to do so. To allow the addition of more points now would be a violation of double jeopardy. In <u>Harris v. State</u>, 645 So. 2d 386 (Fla. 1994), this Court held that a defendant's sentence could be increased from a nonhabitual sentence to a habitual sentence because the trial court had made a mistake on a legal question as to sentencing. However, this Court specifically noted:

In the instant case the trial judge's decision to forego habitualization was the result of an error of law and not a discretionary judgment based on the facts. We agree with the district court that the habitual offender sentence was imposed in this instance "pursuant to the mandate of [the district court, and] was effected without a scintilla of the vindictiveness focused upon in North Carolina v. Pearce."

Harris, 645 So. 2d at 388 (emphasis added). Because this situation sub judice does involve the discretionary judgment of the trial court, it cannot be said that increasing the points to a heavier sanction would not involve a "scintilla of vindictiveness." To allow such an increase would be a violation of double jeopardy under North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U. S. 711, 89 S. Ct. 2072, 23 L. Ed. 2d 656 (1969).

If all 120 points are dropped from the scoresheet, then Mr. Montague's guidelines score drops to 322 points and goes down two ranges (from 17-22/12-27 to 9-12/7-17). If only 80 points are dropped, then the guidelines score drops to 362 points and goes down one range (to 12-17/9-22). In either case, Mr. Montague's range changes; and he must be resentenced.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, this Court should uphold the Second District's finding that a <u>Karchesky</u> issue is fundamental error. In light of the facts on the face of the record, however, all or almost all of the victim injury points must be dropped; and Mr. Montague must be resentenced.